FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
1/6/2022 11:55 AM

FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
1/6/2022
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

No. 100546-6
SUPREME COURT
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

No. 82073-7-I
COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

THE CITY OF SEATTLE,
Respondent,

v.

PAUL MICHEL, et. al.,
Petitioners.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

CAIRNCROSS &
HEMPELMANN PS

By: Stephen P. VanDerhoef
WSBA No. 20088
Jonathan D. Tebbs
WSBA No. 53861

Attorneys for Petitioners Michels

LAW OFFICE OF
G. MICHAEL ZENO, JR., P.S.

By: G. Michael Zeno, Jr.
WSBA No. 14589

*Attorney for Petitioners
Merriam and Walker*

FIDELITY NATIONAL
LAW GROUP

By: Matthew R. Cleverley

A. Introduction.

Petitioners Paul and Ann Michel, John Merriam and Brenda Kaye Walker, respondents in the Court of Appeals and plaintiffs below, ask this Court to review the Court of Appeals' decision reversing the trial court's decree quieting title against respondent Seattle City Light to portions of their residential properties that the petitioners and their predecessors have for decades exclusively occupied and used as driveways, front yards and lawns.

Ignoring basic rules of statutory construction and misreading this Court's precedents, the Court of Appeals in a published decision held that the Legislature in RCW 7.28.090 granted municipalities sweeping immunity against adverse possession of any "municipal lands actually being used or planned for use to provide any direct or indirect benefit to the public." (Op. ¶ 1) But RCW 7.28.090, which by its terms is limited to adverse possession claims made under color of title, 7.28.070, or

payment of taxes on vacant land, 7.28.080, says no such thing. The Court of Appeals ignored the governing statute, RCW 4.16.160, which, as this Court has repeatedly held, provides a much narrower defense, waiving sovereign immunity unless the municipality holds property in its governmental capacity for public and not proprietary purposes.

While Division One's erroneous expansion of municipal immunity from claims of adverse possession, standing alone, justifies this Court's review, the Court of Appeals never should have reached the issue of sovereign immunity because City Light never owned the property in dispute. City Light failed to challenge on appeal the trial court's order that it never acquired title by deed. It instead claimed title by adverse possession—even while conceding that it had *never* physically possessed the Merriam and Michel front yards, which were actually and exclusively occupied by petitioners and their predecessors. The Court

of Appeals’ published decision eliminates the established requirements that adverse possession be both “actual” and “exclusive,” mandating this Court’s review.

B. Court of Appeals Decision.

Division One issued its decision on November 8, 2021, published at 498 P.3d 522 (App. A), and denied petitioners’ timely motion for reconsideration on December 8, 2021. (App. B)

C. Issues Presented for Review.

1. Did the Court of Appeals err in holding that 7.28.090 grants Seattle City Light broad sovereign immunity from a claim of adverse possession of “any land that may provide any direct or indirect benefit to the public,” or is municipal immunity limited to property municipal corporations hold in a governmental and not a proprietary capacity under RCW 4.16.160?

2. Did the Court of Appeals err in holding that City Light acquired title by adverse possession to portions

of the Merriam and Michel front yards that were actually and exclusively occupied for many decades, up to the present day, by petitioners and their predecessors, rather than by City Light?

D. Statement of the Case.

- 1. The Michels, the Merriams, and their predecessors have occupied a portion of tract 44 as part of their Echo Lake homes since at least 1953.**

Petitioners Paul and Ann Michel (the Michels), John Merriam and Brenda Kaye Walker (the Merriams), are next door neighbors in Shoreline. Their properties abut the shore of Echo Lake to the west, and a 100-foot-wide former railroad right of way claimed by City Light to the east. The former railroad right of way was created in 1905, designated “tract 44” by the plat of Wenzler’s Echo Lake Tracts. (CP 66)

The plat also created a long, thin parcel designated “tract 57,” located between the right of way and Echo Lake

(CP 66), which was eventually divided into residential lots. The Michel and Merriam homes are the two northernmost residential properties in tract 57:



(CP 571)

The Merriams bought their house at 19533 Stone Ave. N. in 2003. (CP 55) The Michels purchased their home at 19541 Stone Ave. N., immediately to the north of the Merriams, in 2017. (CP 567)

Both properties have served as private residences since the middle of the last century. (CP 572-74, 1235, 1268) The Merriams' house, with its fence in the same location, dates from 1953 or earlier, as reflected in an

assessor's document from that year (CP 1268-69, 1272-73, 1277), shown below right. On the Michels' property, a carport, asphalt driveway and parking areas are all enclosed by a 6-foot cyclone fence, which dates from at least 1964 (CP 514-15), shown below left:



(CP 515)



(CP 1268)

Though both the Merriams' and Michels' yards and driveways are located almost entirely within tract 44, neither home prevented City Light from maintaining its

transmission wires or poles, located east of petitioners' fence lines. (CP 921-22, 1153)

- 2. City Light never had title by deed to tract 44, which reverted to the original grantors in 1939 when it ceased being used as a railway. City Light sought to establish title to all of tract 44, including that portion occupied by petitioners, by adverse possession.**

City Light never obtained title by deed to tract 44. When platting Echo Lake Tracts in 1905, the original grantors executed a "right of way deed" to tract 44 in favor of the Seattle-Everett Interurban Railway Company for operation of a railroad. (CP 536-37) The 1905 right of way deed expressly stated that if tract 44 was not used for a railway for a period of 60 days, the conveyance would be void, and all interest in tract 44 would automatically revert to and re-vest in the grantors:

[It is distinctly understood and agreed to by [the Railway], its successors and assigns that this land is conveyed to them only as a right of way for a Railway and for highway purposes.

It is further understood and agreed that if [the Railway], its successors or assigns shall, at any time, fail to operate a Railway on the above granted premises for a period of sixty days (time being declared to be of the very essence of this agreement) then and in that event this conveyance shall be null and void and the property conveyed shall revert to and revest in [the Wenzlers], their heirs or assigns without further notice and free from any liens or encumbrances that may have been incurred by the [Railway], its successors or assigns.

(CP 537)

In 1939, the Interurban made its last run. (CP 86-88, 253-54, 598, 1345-49) In partial summary judgment orders that are unchallenged on appeal, the trial court confirmed that tract 44 reverted back to the Wenzlers and Mehlhorns (the original grantors) and/or their heirs, sixty days after the successor to the Seattle-Everett Interurban Railway Company stopped using tract 44 for railway purposes. (CP 320-21, 367-69)

In March 1951, Puget Sound Power & Light, which had obtained a quitclaim deed to the former railroad right

of way six years earlier (CP 549-52), executed a deed that purported to convey to the City of Seattle “a transmission line right of way, as now located upon the ground and occupied by Puget Sound Power & Light Company, formerly the right of way of the Seattle-Everett Interurban Railway,” including tract 44. (CP 555, 557) However, neither this deed nor the 1945 quit claim from the former railroad company to Puget Power conveyed any interest in the right of way because title had reverted in 1939 to the original grantors Wenzler/Mehlhorn.

Seattle City Light maintains an electric line on a single row of wooden poles within tract 44, adjacent to the residential properties occupied by petitioners. In 2001, City Light dedicated a portion of its right of way, including tract 44, but well outside the area in dispute, to the City of Shoreline for use as a pedestrian/bike trail, the Interurban Trail. (CP 598, 921-31) These uses formed the basis of City Light’s claim to have adversely possessed the portion of

tract 44 occupied exclusively by the Michels and Merriams and their predecessors for over half a century.

- 3. The Court of Appeals reversed a decree quieting title to petitioners, holding that City Light acquired all of tract 44 by adverse possession in the 1950s and that City Light was thereafter entitled to sovereign immunity from petitioners' adverse possession claims.**

Claiming it had record title to all of tract 44, City Light demanded in 2018 that the Michels and Merriams remove what it deemed encroachments. (CP 58-60, 174-76, 515-16) The dispute escalated when City Light, over the Michels' protests, removed and destroyed 200 feet of the Michels' fence and gate at the top of the slope that had provided security to the Michels' residence:



(CP 513)



(CP 516; see CP 362-63)

The Michels sued and obtained an injunction in King County Superior Court that allowed them to install a temporary fence to replace the one destroyed by City Light. (CP 1, 361-65, 518) The Merriams filed their own quiet title action (CP 9), which was consolidated with the Michels' action. (CP 192-93)

In unchallenged summary judgment rulings, the trial court held that the 1951 deed from Puget Sound Power & Light was ineffective to establish City Light's title to the property because all title to tract 44 had reverted to the original grantors under the reversionary clause in the 1905 grant of a railroad right of way. The trial court thus dismissed City Light's counterclaims seeking to quiet title to tract 44, except to the extent City Light could establish title based on adverse possession against the heirs of the original 1905 grantors, the record owners of tract 44. (CP 320-21368-69)

The Michels and Merriams then amended their quiet title complaints to add the heirs of the 1905 grantors. (CP 376, 383) On cross-motions for summary judgment, the trial court held that the Michels and Merriams established title by adverse possession to the portion of tract 44 that their predecessors fenced and occupied by virtue of their exclusive use and possession for ten years against both the heirs of the original grantors, and against City Light. The trial court rejected City Light's claim of immunity, finding that City Light held the property in a proprietary, as opposed to a governmental capacity. (CP 1396)

The trial court also held that City Light established title to all of tract 44 against the heirs of the 1905 grantors, "other than as established by the Michels and Merriams" through adverse possession based on City Light's use of the property for ten years beginning in 1951. (CP 1395)

The City appealed the judgment quieting title in favor of the Michels and Merriams to their front yards.¹ Division One reversed in a November 8, 2021 published decision and directed entry of judgment as a matter of law in favor of City Light and against petitioners. (App. A)

The Court of Appeals held that City Light acquired title to tract 44, including the Michels' and Merriams' front yards, by adverse possession, asserting that “[f]rom 1951 to 1961, the City physically occupied tract 44 and exercised . . . dominion and control over the entirety of tract 44 as a true owner would.” (Op. ¶ 20) It then held that City Light was entitled to immunity from the Michels' and Merriams' adverse possession claims under RCW 7.28.090, which it broadly interpreted to shield all municipal property held for current or planned public use, “regardless of whether

¹ The ruling quieting title in favor of the City to the balance of tract 44 was unchallenged by the sole Wenzel/Melhorn heir who appeared, and is not at issue on appeal.

those uses are traditionally classified as ‘governmental’ or ‘proprietary.’” (Op. ¶ 34)

The Court of Appeals denied petitioners’ timely motion for reconsideration on December 8, 2021. (App. B)

E. Argument Why Review Should be Granted.

The Court of Appeals violated basic principles of statutory interpretation in holding that RCW 7.28.090 provided immunity to City Light against claims of adverse possession of any “municipal lands actually being used or planned for use to provide any direct or indirect benefit to the public.” (Op. ¶ 1) Its expansive grant of sovereign immunity conflicts with this Court’s precedent, as well as that of the Court of Appeals, that land held by a municipality in its proprietary, as opposed to governmental, capacity is subject to adverse possession to the same extent as if it were held by a private party. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2).

Furthermore, while the extent and nature of a municipality's sovereign immunity from adverse possession is undoubtedly a matter of substantial public interest, RAP 13.4(b)(4), the Court of Appeals did not need to reach the issue because City Light never established it owned the portion of tract 44 occupied by petitioners and their predecessors. The Court of Appeals erred in holding that City Light exclusively possessed the petitioners' front yards for the requisite ten years to acquire title by adverse possession when it was in fact occupied by petitioners' predecessors during the same period. The Court of Appeals dispensed with the requirement that possession be both "actual" and "exclusive," in conflict with the fundamental premise of adverse possession law and established precedent. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2).

- 1. The Court of Appeals erroneously extended a local government's sovereign immunity from claims of adverse possession far beyond the limits established by the Legislature and this Court's precedent.**

The Court of Appeals erred in holding that municipal corporations, such as City Light, are entitled to sovereign immunity from claims of adverse possession as to any and all land “actually being used or planned for use to provide any direct or indirect benefit to the public.” (Op. ¶ 1) This Court should accept review because Division One’s admittedly “broad” view of immunity in a published opinion (Op. ¶ 28) is unsupported by the plain statutory language upon which it relied, conflicts with precedent, and is a matter of substantial public concern that only this Court may resolve. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), (4).

After noting that City Light was not entitled to common law immunity, the Court of Appeals erroneously held that the Legislature granted municipal corporations

broad statutory immunity against all claims of adverse possession of lands held for any current or future public purpose under RCW 7.28.090. (Op. ¶¶ 21-39) Under the guise of following a legislative mandate to “liberally construe” this statute (Op. ¶ 25, citing RCW 7.28.100), the Court of Appeals rewrote it, disregarding its plain language. *See Doty v. Town of S. Prairie*, 155 Wn.2d 527, 532-33, 120 P.3d 941 (2005) (court must give “meaningful effect to the language our legislature enacted,” notwithstanding statutory “mandate of liberal construction”); *Garth Parberry Equip. Repairs, Inc. v. James*, 101 Wn.2d 220, 224, 676 P.2d 470 (1984) (court may not use principles of statutory construction “to ignore the literal language of a statute.”).

RCW 7.28.090, originally enacted as section 5 of Chapter 11 of the Laws of 1893, states that “RCW 7.28.070 and 7.28.080 shall not extend to lands or tenements owned by the United States or this state, nor to school lands, nor

to lands held for any public purpose.” By its plain terms, RCW 7.28.090 applies only to the particular forms of adverse possession described in RCW 7.28.070 and .080, which shorten the adverse possession period from ten to seven years under certain conditions that are indisputably absent here.

Specifically, RCW 7.28.070, allows a claimant to gain title in only seven years if, in addition to establishing the common law elements of adverse possession, the claimant has, "under claim and color of title" paid "all taxes legally assessed on such lands or tenements . . . to the extent and according to the purport of his or her paper title." RCW 7.28.080 authorizes a claimant to gain title to "vacant and unoccupied" land in seven years even without possessing it, if the claimant (1) has color of title, and (2) in good faith, (3) pays all taxes assessed for seven successive years. Stoebuck and Weaver, 17 *Wash. Prac., Real Estate* § 8.2 (2nd ed. 2004).

Because neither the Michels nor the Merriams claimed under RCW 7.28.070 or RCW 7.28.080, RCW 7.28.090 is, by its plain language, inapplicable. Petitioners were not basing their claim on having paid taxes on the property, nor were they claiming under a document that purported to convey title. Moreover, the portion of tract 44 was not vacant and unoccupied, but was developed, occupied, and possessed to the exclusion of all others, including City Light, by petitioners and their predecessors since the 1950s.

As the Court of Appeals recognized, petitioners claimed title based on RCW 4.16.020, which though technically a statute of limitations, requires a claimant seeking to quiet title based on adverse possession to establish that “the plaintiff, his or her ancestor, predecessor or grantor was seized or possessed of the premises in question within ten years before

commencement of the action.” RCW 4.16.020; *see* Op.¶ 23, citing 17 *Wash. Prac.* § 8.2.

The Court of Appeals inexplicably failed to discuss or even cite the controlling statute, RCW 4.16.160, which since 1903, broadly waives local government’s sovereign immunity for common law adverse possession claims based on RCW 4.16.020’s ten-year statute of limitations:

The limitations prescribed in this chapter shall apply to actions brought in the name or for the benefit of any county or other municipality or quasi-municipality of the state, in the same manner as to actions brought by private parties: Provided, That . . . there shall be no limitation to actions brought in the name or for the benefit of the state . . . nor shall any cause of action against the state be predicated upon such statute.

RCW 4.16.160; *see* Laws 1903, p.26, c.24.

The phrase “limitations described in this chapter” includes the 10-year statute of limitations for quiet title actions set forth in RCW 4.16.020. Because limitations referred to in RCW 4.16.160 do not apply to “actions

brought in the name or for the benefit of the state,” the statute affords the State of Washington sovereign immunity from “any cause of action predicated upon” RCW 4.16.020, including adverse possession claims. *Brace & Hergert Mill Co. v. State*, 49 Wash. 326, 334–35, 95 P. 278 (1908).

In contrast to the blanket immunity afforded the State, RW 4.16.160 subjects “municipalities and quasi-municipalities” to suit “in the same manner as . . . private parties.” This Court has interpreted RCW 4.16.160 to provide municipalities a limited immunity from suit. *See, e.g., Washington Pub. Power Supply Sys. (“WPPS”) v. Gen. Elec. Co.*, 113 Wn.2d 288, 301, 778 P.2d 1047, 1053–54 (1989) (RCW 4.16.160 subjects WPPS to statute of limitations defense; “production of electricity . . . considered either a private business or a proprietary municipal function for the advantage of each community.”).

Under RCW 4.16.160, cities are liable for adverse possession based on RCW 4.16.020's ten-year statute of limitations "in the same manner as . . . private parties" unless acting "in the name of or for the benefit of the state." A city or county holds property "for the benefit of the state" under RCW 4.16.160 only if it holds such property "for public purposes in its governmental capacity." *Com. Waterway Dist. No. 1 of King Cty. v. Permanente Cement Co.*, 61 Wn.2d 509, 512–13, 379 P.2d 178 (1963). See *Gorman v. City of Woodinville*, 175 Wn. 2d 68, ¶ 6, 72, 283 P.3d 1082 (2012) ("Under RCW 4.16.160, the statute of limitations for adverse possession will not run against the State or city acting in its governmental capacity"); *City of Edmonds v. Williams*, 54 Wn. App. 632, 634, 774 P.2d 1241 (1989) ("the principle that adverse possession cannot be acquired against property held by a municipality in its governmental capacity . . . derives from the rule that the

adverse possession statute cannot run against the state.”), citing RCW 4.16.160.

Thus, “the statute does not apply as against a municipality so as to permit the acquisition of title by adverse possession to a portion of a street within the municipality” because “such property is held by the municipality . . . in a governmental capacity for public purposes.” *Gustaveson v. Dwyer*, 83 Wash. 303, 305, 145 P. 458 (1915). But “if land were held by a municipality in its proprietary capacity the land would be subject to being acquired by adverse possession the same as if owned by a private individual.” *Com. Waterway Dist.*, 61 Wn.2d at 512. *Accord*, *Kesinger v. Logan*, 51 Wn. App. 914, 919, 756 P.2d 752 (1988) (adverse possession of portion of irrigation district’s claimed right of way, which had never been “devoted to any use by the District” was held “in its proprietary capacity and is subject to adverse possession.”), *aff’d*, 113 Wn.2d 320, 779 P.2d 263 (1989);

Sisson v. Koelle, 10 Wn. App. 746, 748–49, 520 P.2d 1380 (1974) (county land “is subject to being acquired by adverse possession the same as if owned by a private individual.”).²

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