FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 2/4/2022 10:16 AM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

No. 100546-6

SUPREME COURT, OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

(Court of Appeals No. 82073-7-I) (Consolidated with No. 82074-5-I)

Paul Michel, et al.,

Petitioners,

v.

The City of Seattle,

Respondent.

CITY OF SEATTLE'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Ann Davison Seattle City Attorney

Andrew C. Eberle, WSBA #51790 Assistant City Attorney For Respondent The City of Seattle

Seattle City Attorney's Office 701 Fifth Ave., Suite 2050 Seattle, WA 98104-7097 (206) 684-8200

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

A. The Court of Appeals' decision that RCW 7.28.090 prohibits adverse possession against land held for a public purpose follows Supreme Court and Court of Appeals' precedent and creates no conflict warranting review.

In 2012, this Court held that: "A party may not claim adverse possession of property held or controlled by a municipality for public use." *Kiely v. Graves*, 173 Wn.2d 926, 935–36, 271 P.3d 226 (2012) (citing RCW 7.28.090; *Gustaveson v. Dwyer*, 83 Wn. 303, 304–05, 145 P. 458 (1915)). The Court noted the statute's important role in safeguarding lands held for a public purpose, explaining that: "To decide otherwise would encourage encroachments upon public easements and hinder public use." Id. at 940. The Court of Appeals' decision follows this Court's precedent.

1. No Washington appellate court has ever held that RCW 7.28.090 does not apply to adverse possession claims brought under RCW 4.16.020.

The bulk of the petition's legal argument is devoted to claiming that RCW 7.28.090's immunization of lands held for a public purpose only applies to adverse possession claims brought under RCW 7.28.070 (the payment of taxes statute) or RCW 7.28.080 (the vacant land statute). Pet. at 16-24. The homeowners cite no decisions in support of this restrictive application of RCW 7.28.090. The Court of Appeals' holding that: "RCW 7.28.090 can apply to adverse possession claims brought against a government entity under RCW 7.28.070, .080, or RCW 4.16.020" does not conflict with any Supreme Court of Court of Appeals decision. Op. at 13.

The homeowners accuse the Court of Appeals of rewriting the statute and disregarding its plain language. Pet. at 17. If that was the case, then the homeowners must accuse the Supreme Court and every Court of Appeals' panel of doing the same to the statute. Every Washington court that has considered RCW 7.28.090, has interpreted the statute in the same manner as the Court of Appeals did in its decision.

As the Court of Appeals' decision notes, Washington Courts have always held that RCW 7.28.090 applies to adverse possession claims "even when a plaintiff does not rely on either RCW 7.28.070 or .080." Op. at 11-14 (citing *Skinner v. McCrackan* 93 Wash. 43, 45-46, 159 P. 977 (1916); *Kiely v. Graves*, 173 Wn.2d 926, 271 P.3d 226 (2012)); *Pioneer National Title Insurance Company v. State*, 39 Wn. App. 758, 695 P.2d 996 (1985); *Williams Place, LLC v. State ex rel. Dep't of Transp.*, 187 Wn. App. 67, 98, 348 P.3d 797 (2015); *See also Neighbors v. King Cty.*, 15 Wn. App. 2d 71, 83, 479 P.3d 724 (2020).¹

¹ The Court of Appeals' decision persuasively points out that the homeowners' suggested interpretation would allow an adverse possession plaintiff that would be blocked under RCW 7.28.090

Unlike the Court of Appeals' decision, the homeonwers' argument is in direct conflict with the Supreme Court's decision in Kiely v. Graves, 173 Wn.2d 926, 271 P.3d 226 (2012). In *Kiely*, this Court held that "RCW 7.28.090 prohibited the Kielys from obtaining title to the alley through adverse possession." Id. at 940. Neither RCW 7.28.070 nor .080 were the basis for adverse possession claims at issue in *Kiely*. In fact, although not mentioned in this Court's decision, the Kielys claimed title based on RCW 4.16.020, the same statute as the homeowners in this case. See Kiely v. Graves, Brief of Appellants., 2010 WL 6893553 ("The Kielys conceded that to meet their burden, they had to tack their predecessors' adverse use onto their time of possession to establish the necessary time under RCW 4.16.020.").

The homeowners' only argument against the numerous cases applying RCW 7.28.090 to all adverse possession claims

to simply wait an additional 3 years and proceed under RCW 4.16.020 instead. Op. at 13. That would be an absurd outcome.

is to state in a footnote that *Kiely* involved a public alley. Pet. at 24 n.2. This distinction has nothing to do with whether RCW 7.28.090 applies to adverse possession claims brought under RCW 4.16.020. Nothing in this Court's *Kiely* decision indicates that its legal principle is confined to public alleys. This Court held that: "A party may not claim adverse possession of **property held** or controlled by a municipality for public use." *Kiely* 173 Wn.2d at 935–36 (citing RCW 7.28.090) (emphasis added). This Court's holding applies to all municipal property, not just public alleys. *Id*.

Moreover, other decisions applying RCW 7.28.090 did not involve public alleys. In *Neighbors v. King Cty.*, the court applied RCW 7.28.090 to a 10-year adverse possession claim when the property at issue was a former railroad corridor, the exact type of property at issue in this case. 15 Wn. App. 2d 71, 74, 479 P.3d 724 (2020).

This Court did not err in applying RCW 7.28.090 to the adverse possession claim brought under RCW 4.16.020 in

Kiely. In this case, the Court of Appeals did not err, or create a conflict with any decisions in applying it to homeowners' adverse possession claim.

2. No Washington Court has ever held that RCW 4.16.160 supersedes or conflicts with RCW 7.28.090.

The homeowners claim that the "Court of Appeals inexplicably failed to discuss or even cite the controlling statute, RCW 4.16.160" Pet. at 20. The homeowners' confusion is unwarranted.

Pioneer National Title Insurance Company, is the only decision that has ever discussed both RCW 7.28.090 and RCW 4.16.160. 39 Wn. App. 758, 761, 695 P.2d 996 (1985). In that decision, the court merely cited both provisions as barring adverse possession against the state. It did nothing to indicate that RCW 4.16.160 was the "controlling statute" or superseded RCW 7.28.090.

There is nothing in the text of RCW 4.16.160's prohibition that "no claim of right predicated upon the lapse of time shall ever be asserted against the state" that would limit the separate and additional protection provided by RCW 7.28.090 to "lands held for any public purpose".

Every other case cited above that applied RCW 7.28.090 did not discuss or cite RCW 4.16.160. There is no need to cite or discuss RCW 4.16.160 because RCW 7.28.090 provides immunity from adverse possession for "lands held for any public purpose." If the land is held for a public purpose, no further analysis is necessary.²

3. The Court of Appeals' decision creates no conflict with decisions that had applied a governmental vs. proprietary test to adverse possession claims.

The homeowners next argue that the Court should have decided whether the City held the land at issue in a governmental or proprietary capacity. Pet. at 22 (citing *Com. Waterway Dist.*

 $^{^{2}}$ The homeowners only challenged whether RCW 7.28.090 applied before the Court of Appeals, and therefore waived any challenge to whether the property in this case was held for a public purpose.

No. 1 of King Cty. v. Permanente Cement Co., 61 Wn.2d 509, 512–13, 379 P.2d 178 (1963); Gorman v. City of Woodinville, 175 Wn. 2d 68, ¶ 6, 72, 283 P.3d 1082 (2012); City of Edmonds v. Williams, 54 Wn. App. 632, 634, 774 P.2d 1241(1989). Importantly, none of those decisions involved a defense by the municipal landowner that it was immune from adverse possession under RCW 7.28.090.

The Court of Appeals correctly determined that RCW 7.28.090 does not require it "to label land uses as 'proprietary' or 'governmental' to decide whether RCW 7.28.090 shields municipal lands from claims of adverse possession." Op. at 16. This determination follows this Court's decision in *Kiely*, which made no mention of "governmental" or "proprietary." 173 Wn.2d 926, 271 P.3d 226 (2012).

Further, even if the governmental vs. proprietary test was relevant, the Court of Appeals decision does not conflict with how that test has been applied in any adverse possession case. The homeowners' argument to the Court of Appeals was that the governmental vs. proprietary test from *Okeson v. City of Seattle*, 150 Wn.2d 540, 78 P.3d 1279 (2003) could be applied to adverse possession cases. This argument directly conflicts with this Court's decision in *Lakehaven Water & Sewer Dist. v. City of Fed. Way*, which held that in evaluating whether a function is governmental or proprietary, the "applicable rules in any given case will depend on the relevant area of the law under consideration." 195 Wn.2d 742, 765, 466 P.3d 213 (2020) (and noting that there appear to be at least six different tests for evaluating whether a function is governmental or proprietary).

The test in *Okeson* addresses whether there has been a violation of the local government accounting act, RCW 43.09.210, and has no relevance in adverse possession cases. In decisions that did apply a "governmental" vs. "proprietary" test, the only decisions to ever find that municipal land was held in a proprietary capacity did so because the municipality "had abandoned and forgotten about and had done nothing to sustain any title, or ownership, or control, of the land in question." *Sisson*

v. Koelle, 10 Wn. App. 746, 751, 520 P.2d 1380 (1974); *See also Kesinger v. Logan*, 51 Wn. App. 914, 919, 756 P.2d 752 (1988). In this case, the City did not forget or abandon its land. The provided substantial evidence of its active use, ownership and control.

The Court of Appeals' decision harmonizes, rather than conflicts with those adverse possession cases by noting that: "abandoned or forgotten lands put to no actual or planned use at all do not provide public benefits." Op. at 18 (citing *Sisson*, 10 Wn App. at 751).

B. The Court of Appeals' straightforward application of RCW 7.28.090 is not an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

The homeowners argue that: "This decision presents an issue of substantial public interest justifying this Court's review, RAP 13.4(b)(4)," Pet. at 25. The homeowners misread RAP 13.4(b)(4). The fact that this case contained an issue of substantial public interest is not sufficient to meet this ground for

review. The criterion is whether the decision "involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court." RAP 13.4(b)(4).

The issue of substantial public interest was to prevent private landowners from arguing that they could adversely possess land held for a public purpose. Accepting these arguments would have put public land, and affordable, reliable electricity, at risk. The Court of Appeals' decision has resolved this issue of substantial public interest according to Supreme Court precedent and is binding on all trial courts.

As the Court of Appeals' decision follows Supreme Court precedent and the legislature's intent to protect public lands, there is no need for this issue to be determined by the Supreme Court.

C. The Court of Appeals' decision on the actual and exclusive elements of adverse possession follows Supreme Court and Court of Appeals precedent and creates no conflict warranting review.

Although the homeowners cite RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2), they do not provide a single case that conflicts with the Court of Appeals' decision. Pet. at 27-32. Instead, the homeowners mischaracterize the decision as "eliminating the requirement that an adverse possessor actually and exclusively possess the claimed land." Pet. at 31. The Court of Appeals' decision did not eliminate any requirement for adverse possession claims. It simply applied the requirement that in deciding the actual and exclusive possession elements, "[t]he ultimate test is the exercise of dominion over the land in a manner consistent with actions a true owner would take." Op. at 7 (citing *ITT Rayonier, Inc. v. Bell*, 112 Wn.2d 754, 759, 774 P.2d 6 (1989).

The homeowners are not citing the correct test for "actual possession" in Washington. Washington law does not require actual physical occupation of every square foot of land to obtain adverse possession of a parcel. However, even if the 18

homeowners' concept of "physical possession" were required for the disputed areas, the City demonstrated that it has physical possession of the disputed areas.

As noted above, homeowners' claim that the City did not possess the disputed areas "at all" is inaccurate. Pet. at 27. It is undisputed that the photographic evidence shows that the City's poles and transmission wires located in and over the disputed areas that the homeowners claim as their yards. CP 6, 59, 147, 492, 523, 998, 1023, 1268. It is also undisputed that the power lines were in place prior to 1951, and through current day. CP 1325-1326, 1347; 523. This evidence demonstrates that the Court of Appeals' decision correctly found that the City had met the requirement that it actually possess the disputed areas. Op. at 7-8.

The homeowners, unable to find a decision in conflict with the Court of Appeals' decision, suggest that it conflicts with a legal treatise. Pet. at 27 (citing WILLIAM B. STOEBUCK AND JOHN W. WEAVER, WASHINGTON PRACTICE: REAL ESTATE: PROPERTY LAW § 8.9 (2d ed. 2004)). Leaving aside the fact that RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2) require a conflict with a decision, there is no conflict with this legal treatise.

The Court of Appeals' decision followed existing decisions regarding adverse possession, which hold that: "The necessary use and occupancy need only be of the character that a true owner would assert in view of its nature and location." *Chaplin v. Sanders*, 100 Wn.2d 853, 863, 676 P.2d 431 (1984) (citing *Krona v. Brett*, 72 Wn.2d 535, 539, 433 P.2d 858 (1967)). The Court of Appeals correctly noted that the homeowners cited "no authority requiring physical occupation of the entirety of a disputed property to prove 'actual' and 'exclusive' use." Op. at 7.

The homeowners selectively cite 17 Wash. Prac., § 8.9 in an attempt to create a requirement that an adverse possessor be in physical occupation of every square foot of land. Pet. at 27, 30. The homeowners do not cite the part of the treatise on this issue that explains that: "**The best general test of actual** **possession**, subscribed to by a number of Washington decisions is this: Considering the nature of the land and the area where it is situated, were the claimant's acts on the ground the kind of use a true owner would make of such land?" Stoebuck & Weaver, 17 Wash. Prac., Real Estate § 8.19 (2d ed 2004) (emphasis added) (citing *Chaplin v. Sanders*, 100 Wn.2d 853, 676 P.2d 431 (1984)).

The homeowners' argument regarding exclusivity fares no better. The Court of Appeals' decision explained that: "Although possession of tract 44 was not literally exclusive, as the homeowners would require, the record shows the City managed the land as a true owner would under the circumstances." Op. at 8. The Court applied the correct exclusivity test, holding that "Adverse possession must be as exclusive as one would expect of a titled property owner under the circumstances." Op. at 7 (Citing *Harris v. Urell*, 133 Wn. App. 130, 138, 135 P.3d 530 (2006). The homeowners do not provide any explanation for how this is conflict with a Supreme Court or Court of Appeals decision. The homeowners simply disagree with the Court of Appeals' decision that the City had exclusive control of the disputed areas. This disagreement is based on the homeowners' factual inaccuracies, and it is not a valid ground for review under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), or (4).

D. The Court of Appeals' decision on the actual and exclusive elements of adverse possession is not an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

The homeowners claim that the Court of Appeals' decision to eliminate "the requirement that an adverse possessor actually and exclusively possess the claimed land" is an issue of substantial public interest. Pet. at 31-32. As explained above, the Court of Appeals' decision made no changes to the requirements of adverse possession law. Therefore, there is no issue of substantial public interest that needs to be determined by the Supreme Court.

VI. CONCLUSION

RCW 7.28.090 prohibits adverse possession of lands held for any public purpose. Adverse possession only requires actual and exclusive possession be of the character a true owner would assert in view of the land's nature and location. The Court of Appeals' decision is not in conflict with any Supreme Court or other Court of Appeals decision, nor does it raise an issue of substantial public interest that should be decided by this Court. The City respectfully asks this Court to deny the petition.

I certify that this document is in 14-point Times New Roman and contains 3,553 words, in compliance with the Rules of Appellate Procedure. RAP 18.17(b).